



























































































































































































































































a cod hatchery near Dildo, Trinity Bay in 1889, and
rainbow trout hatcheries were established at both
Long Pond (St. John’s) and Murray’s Pond (Portugal
Cove) in the late 1800s, commercial production of
seafood through aquaculture operations is only of rel-
atively recent origin in the Province. Although shell-
fish farming, particularly of mussels, began in the
1960s, fin-fish farming did not begin until 1974, with
the opening of a rainbow trout farm at Hopeall, Trinity
Bay. More recent aquaculture ventures have involved
a variety of species, including scallop, salmon, arctic
char, steelhead trout and cod.

The waters adjacent to Newfoundland and Labrador
are generally too cold to allow salmon to be raised
successfully. Studies in the early 1980s, however, sug-
gested that suitable conditions could be found in Bay
d’Espoir. Subsequent research and trials by the New-
foundland Department of Fisheries confirmed that ad-
equate temperature days occur to promote the required
growth and that water temperatures are suitable for the
successful salt water overwintering of salmon. By
1985 the Bay d’Espoir Development Association had
begun operation of a salmon hatchery, built at a cost of
$2.2 million, and a Grower’s Co-operative was formed
by companies interested in becoming involved in local
aquaculture operations. The first farms were estab-
lished in Roti Bay in 1987-88. However, serious dis-
ease problems dealt a severe blow to the industry.

Undercapitalization and the inefficiencies associ-
ated with the operation of several small farms led the
existing operators, in 1989, to form S.C.B. Fisheries
to operate the growout facilities. Meanwhile, the
hatchery also began work with steelhead (rainbow
trout which spend part of their life in salt water), with
excellent results. Salmon and steelhead fingerlings are
provided to the operators by the Bay d’Espoir Salmon
Hatchery, which S.C.B. has leased on a long-term
basis. S.C.B. has also acquired the assets of the Bay
d’Espoir Salmon Grower’s Co-operative, from which
it had previously acquired feed, thus rendering S.C.B.
a fully integrated operation.

A major concern often expressed with respect to the
establishment of an aquaculture industry is that
farmed species could escape to establish new popula-
tions which would compete with wild stocks for food
and habitat, introduce disease and, through interbreed-
ing, change the characteristics of wild stocks in a way
which would make them less viable. In recognition of
these concerns, young salmon at the Bay d’Espoir
hatchery receive a variety of treatments which alter
their genetic make-up to make them sterile, thereby
preventing reproduction and interbreeding. The fish
are also subjected to a variety of other treatments and
procedures, including quarantine, throughout their life
In order to prevent and control disease. An important
advantage of the salmon hatchery is its location adja-
cent to the Bay d’Espoir hydro-electric generating sta-
tion, where waste heat from the turbines promotes
rapid growth of the fry. Hatched in February, the
young salmon spend approximately 15 months at the
hatchery. By May of the following year, they have
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become smolts of 20 cm in length and are transferred
to Roti Bay. There they remain for another year when
they are transferred to Gaultois Passage. While in salt
water, salmon are fed fish meal products enriched with
various supplements. By 1994 S.C.B. Fisheries had
the capacity to produce approximately 500 tonnes of
Atlantic salmon and steelhead annually. It was hoped
to increase production to 1000 tonnes over the next
several years. Moses Harvey (1900), Hatton and Har-
vey (1883), P.T. McGrath (1911), Alan R. Murray (BN
111, 1967), E.J. Myers (1988), Scott and Scott (1988),
V.R. Taylor (1985), C.W. Townshend ed. (1911), Lee
Wulff (BN 111, 1967), An Economic Statement on De-
veloping the Atlantic Salmon Resource in Newfound-
land and Labrador (1990). BRriaN C. BURSEY

SALMON COVE, CONCEPTION BAY (inc. 1974;

pop. 1991, 791). A community on the North Shore of
Conception Bay, Salmon Cove lies approximately 6
km northeast of Carbonear. The open cove has a long,
sandy beach, the site of a provincial park. A nearby
pond provides the only shelter for small boats in bad
weather. On the outskirts of the cove is a meadow, the
site of an abandoned neighbourhood known as
Marshall’s Folly.

As early as about 1680 the area appeared on French
and English maps as crique de saumon or Salmon
Cove. Settled in the mid-1700s, the cove was the site
of three houses, gardens and fishing premises belong-
ing to planter Charles Garland gv in 1768. Garland’s
premises were to be occupied by one Richard Marshall
in 1807. John Rose and John Slade were living in
Marshall’s Folly in 1801, and these surnames were
still common in the area in 1994. The Case family
were other early settlers.

Salmon Cove and nearby Perry’s Cove gv had a
combined population of 271 in 1836, consisting of 153
Methodists, 75 Roman Catholics and 43 Church of
England members. Agriculture and the shore fishery
were the main activities of the community. In 1845,
581 people were living in Salmon Cove and Perry’s
Cove, while there were 10 families at Marshall’s
Folly. A small population at Salmon Cove Head was
also noted in Census returns from 1857 (20 people)
and 1869 (12 people). Lovell’s Newfoundland Direc-
tory of 1871 records the family names Dwyer,
Peckham, Rose and White. The Roses and Slades re-
mained the only recorded residents of Marshall’s
Folly until 1904 when a Wareham family was also
resident. The majority of people in Salmon Cove be-
longed to the Methodist church, with a minority of
Roman Catholics, while the entire community of
Marshall’s Folly was by this time also Methodist.
Though a clergyman was noted at Salmon Cove in
1884, the first church appears not to have been built
until ¢.1907. A school had existed since at least 1884.

Apart from a few shore fishermen, from the 1840s
the majority of the population of Salmon Cove would
appear to have been engaged in the Labrador fishery,
as stationers gv. In 1891, 87 people went to the Labra-
dor fishery, but from this date the number of families






























































































































As late as 1822, W.E. Cormack gv (of Scottish de-
scent, though born in St. John’s) observed that,
.. .on the west coast of Newfoundland there is nei-
ther Scotchman, Irishman nor rat to be met with. . .””.
This situation was to change in the following decades
as Scots moved to the west coast and to a lesser extent
Labrador. A handful of Scots moved to the lower north
shore of Quebec between 1820 and 1860. John
McLean gv explored the interior of Labrador in the
1830s, while other Scots (mostly Orkneymen brought
to Labrador by the Hudson’s Bay Company) were pio-
neer settlers of Hamilton Inlet. On the west coast of
the Island, Scottish settlement began in the 1840s, and
immigration continued until some time in the 1860s.
These Scottish-born or Scottish-descended settlers
were primarily Gaelic speaking Roman Catholics from
Cape Breton (see also NOVA SCOTIA). They were
attracted, in part, by the physical similarity of the
Codroy Valley and St. George’s Bay to Cape Breton.
Most came from the communities of Broad Cove,
Margaree, Mabou and Judique to establish themselves
at the Codroy Valley, Highlands, Port au Port and
Campbell’s Creek.

A second influx into Newfoundland of Canadians of
Scottish heritage came in the 1890s, with the building
of the Newfoundland railway by Robert G. Reid gv.
Reid had been involved in bridge and railroad con-
struction in Canada prior to contracting to complete
the Newfoundland railway in 1893, and had built up a
loyal group of railroad engineers, surveyors and
roadmasters. Many of these were, like Reid, Perth-
shire Scots. After the Reid Newfoundland Company
established its headquarters in St. John’s in 1902
many of these Scots joined the Presbyterian-Scottish
community in St. John’s. The Scottish community in
St. John’s also tended to be close-knit. Marriages, as
was the case among the English and the Irish, were
often used to solidify business partnerships. By 1837
a group of Scottish immigrants in St. John’s had formed
a club called the Sons of Scotia. This club, which be-
came the *St. Andrew’s Society gqv, held its first annual
Burns Night Dinner in 1837. The first dinner was pre-
sided over by the Hon. James Sinclair, assisted by James
G. Grieve gv and was held at the Golden Lion Hotel.
Unlike the Catholic Highland Scots of the west coast,
those in St. John’s were primarily Lowland Scots and
belonged to the Presbyterian church. Before the estab-
lishment of St. Andrew’s Presbyterian Kirk in 1842,
members of that congregation appear to have attended
Methodist services. In 1857 the Census recorded 302
members of the Kirk of Scotland living on the Island, all
but 12 of whom were residents of St. John’s. Member-
ship in the Free Kirk was somewhat larger (see PRES-
BYTERIAN CHURCH).

Whaling and sealing merchants based in Dundee
and Peterhead became interested in the waters off
Newfoundland when catches off Greenland and in
Davis Strait declined. The Dundee Sealing and Whal-
ing Company sent the steam vessels Polynia qv and
Camperdown to Newfoundland in 1862. The season
was a virtual failure because of ice and poor weather,
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but several local merchants were impressed with the
speed and manoeuverability of the new vessels. The
firm of Walter Grieve and Company subsequently pur-
chased the steam vessel Wolf qv in Scotland while the
Baine, Johnston Company took possession of the
Bloodhound. Discouraged by their initial foray into
Newfoundland waters, Dundee interests did not re-
enter the Newfoundland sealfishery until after 1876.
Well-known Dundee masters such as William Adams
and James Fairweather then employed Newfoundland
crews at the ice. The Dundee Sealing and Whaling
Company sent a number of ships to Newfoundland and
built a boiling yard in St. John’s, while the firm of
Alexander Stephen and Company also sent a small
sealing fleet. But Scottish involvement in sealing de-
clined between 1882 and 1900, as did the industry
generally. Over a period of about 40 years, however,
12 Scottish-based vessels had made 93 voyages to
Newfoundland and taken a total of 1,156,639 pelts.

Scotland was also a producer of salt fish throughout
the nineteenth century. Though exports to Spain went
as high as 36,000 quintals just before World War I, the
trade, however, was a minor factor in the international
market and rarely competed with Newfoundland ex-
ports. In the late 1940s and early 1950s the Scottish
Wholesale Co-operative Society made some attempt
to take over fish exports to the West Indies. In Trini-
dad and Jamaica, for example, Scottish exports were
in direct competition with those of the Newfoundland
Fish Exporters Ltd.

During both world wars a large number of New-
foundland men served in Scottish lumber camps as
part of the Newfoundland Forestry Corps. These civil-
ian units were raised to ensure a supply of pitprops
and other lumber products necessary to the war effort.
The corps formed at the beginning of World War II
consisted of 2145 men, who were sent mainly to
camps in the Scottish Highlands. A number of men
married Scottish women and returned to live on the
Island when the war ended. In recent years, rural Scot-
land has shared several experiences with Newfound-
land and Labrador, including the development of
offshore oil and gas and the deterioration of the North
Atlantic fishery. David Alexander (1977), Margaret
Bennett (1989), Tom Curran (1987), Grant Head
(1976), Keith Matthews (1980), Rosemary Ommer
(1977), Jeffrey Aurdon Orr (1987), Shannon Ryan
(1986), Chesley Sanger (1980), ET (Jan. 22, 1987),
Census (1857). AcCB

SCOTT, ADAM (1823-1881). Educator. Born Can-

onbie, Scotland. Scott came to Newfoundland in 1852
as headmaster of the newly established General Prot-
estant Academy. The Academy had been founded
under provisions of the Academy Act of 1851, which
provided for the establishment of a General Academy,
divided on denominational lines into three branches,
one for each of the Roman Catholic, Church of Eng-
land, and ‘‘General Protestant’’ denominations. The
last named initially comprised Methodists, Congrega-
tionalists and Presbyterians, but when in 1852 the






V. Whiteway, but in the aftermath of a sectarian riot in
Harbour Grace Scott and other Catholic Liberals with-
drew from the alliance.

Re-celected for St. John’s West in 1885, Scott be-
came the spokesman for those members who, though
they sat in the opposition, were generally sympathetic
to the administration of Robert Thorburn. Scott ac-
cepted an invitation by Thorburn to attend talks to
discuss the prospects of union with Canada, though he
was himself an avowed anti-confederate. Scott soon
became involved in the rivalry between politicians
Moses Monroe and Edward P. Morris gqv by support-
ing Monroe in municipal elections. Monroe won the
municipal election, but Scott lost his seat in the House
of Assembly to Morris in 1889. In 1893 Scott was
again defeated in his old district, but later won a by-
election. When a ‘‘caretaker’ Liberal administration
was formed, by Daniel J. Greene gv, Scott was given
the appointment of Receiver General, and retained the
position when Whiteway returned to power.
Whiteway’s government was defeated in the general
election of 1897, Scott himself being defeated in the
district of Placentia and St. Mary’s. He then returned
to private legal practice. He died while attempting a
political comeback in a by-election in the district of
St. John’s East. DCB XII, ET (Oct. 23, 1899). AcB

SCOTT, PETER (1948-). Botanist. Born Toronto, son
of John Scott and Marjorie C. Davis. Educated Univer-
sity of Alberta, Memorial University of Newfound-
land. Scott moved to Newfoundland at an early age. A
professor of botany and genetics at Memorial Univer-
sity, his first book, Conifers of Newfoundland, was
published by the University’s department of biology.
In 1975 Some Edible Fruits and Herbs of Newfound-
land was published by the Oxen Pond Botanic Park. It
was re-issued by Breakwater Books in 1978. Scott has
also written Boreal Flora: Vascular Flora of New-
foundland and Newfoundland Gardening. He has ap-
peared regularly as a gardening consultant on CBC
Radio and has been active in several community pro-
jects, including Oxen Pond Botanic Gardens and the
Freshwater Resources Centre in Pippy Park, has con-
ducted vegetation analysis for the national Green Plan,
and has served on the Canadian Global Challenges
research panel. In 1992 he designed the heritage gar-
den for Campbell House in Trinity. Scott was awarded
the Southcott Award for Heritage preservation in 1993.
Peter Scott (1975; 1978; interview, June 1993), ET
(Mar. 13, 1967). JEAN GRAHAM

SCOTT, ROBERT (1835-1913). Merchant. Born Glas-
gow, Scotland. Married Mary Caroline Lucas. Scott
was an agent for Walter Grieve and Company until
around 1865, when he established himself as a trader
at Fogo. Between 1867 and 1904 he registered 12
vessels at St. John’s. Along with his general fishery
supply business, Scott operated a passenger and freight
service to and from Fogo Island. He was for many
years magistrate, justice of the peace and collector of
customs at Fogo. Scott died in January 1913. Mildred
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Howard (1980), DNLB (1990), Newfoundland Direc-
tory (1864-1904), Maritime History Archive (New-
foundland Shipowners File). LBM

SCOUSE COVE (pop. 1901, 11). An abandoned fish-

ing community, Scouse Cove was located at the en-
trance to Bay d’Espoir, on the north shore of Long
Island. The name of the community comes from
‘‘lobscouse’’: a stew of meat, vegetables and brewis.
The cove is first noted as settled, by two fishing fami-
lies totalling nine people, in 1869. It is likely that these
were the Morris and Kearley families, the only known
residents, and that they sold their catches of cod to
Gaultois. Although the community does not appear in
the Census after 1901, it seems to have been occupied
until about 1920 when the last Morris and his wife, too
advanced in years to remain alone, moved to Harbour
Gallett gv. E.R. Seary (1977), Census (1869-1901),
McAlpine’s Newfoundland Directory (1894), New-
foundland Historical Society (St. Alban’s). RHC

SCRAMMY. A Labrador fishing station, Scrammy was

located on the south side of St. Michael’s Bay, in a
cove sheltered by Pinsent’s Island and just to the north
and west of Cape St. Michael, and approximately 4 km
east of the community of Pinsent’s Arm gv. St.
Michael’s Bay was more usually known to Newfound-
land fishermen as Scrammy Bay, from a Newfound-
land term meaning ‘ ‘benumbed with cold’’ (most often
used to refer to the hands). Although Scrammy was
much frequented in the mid to late 1800s by fishermen
from Port de Grave and Brigus, and was made a post
harbour in 1888, by the early 1900s fishermen from the
Island were pressing further north, while the growing
population of Labrador ‘‘liveyers’’ in the Bay tended
to frequent harbours that were more suitable for year-
round habitation. Scrammy appears in the Census only
once, in 1884, with a population of three. Lawrence
Jackson ed. (1982), DNE (1990), Sailing Directions
Labrador and Hudson Bay (1974). RHC

SCRUNCHEONS. Edited by Gary Thomas Popp and an

advisory board consisting of faculty members of the
English department of Memorial University, this jour-
nal of Newfoundland creative writing was printed and
published by the department. The first issue appeared
in 1972 and a second issue in September 1973. It
contained poetry and prose by Newfoundland writers,
including D.G. Pitt, Harold Horwood, Alastair Mac-
Donald, Tom Dawe and Geraldine Rubia ggv. The
second volume had sketches by Dawe on the front and
back covers. Scruncheons (vol.1 #1 1972; vol. 1 #2
Sept 1973). ILB

SCULPINS. The sculpin (family cottidae) is a bottom-

dwelling fish that lives in both fresh and salt water. It
is distinguished by its wide head and a stout body
which becomes slender and elongated towards the tail.
Most members of this family have two dorsal fins; the
first one is spiny while the second is soft-rayed. Some
species, however, have one continuous dorsal fin. The






The internal body cavity of the urchin contains five
gonads arranged in a star pattern. Gonads are the
urchin’s main nutrient storage organs; in them grow the
roe (eggs or sperm) that the urchin expels at spawning
season. In Japan, some European countries, and South
America, these gonads are a gourmet delicacy, eaten raw
or salted and fermented. Japan’s domestic catch of ur-
chins in 1988 came to nearly 22,000 metric tonnes,
worth more than $200 million U.S. In the same year
Japan imported almost one quarter of that amount. With
the closure of the northern cod fishery in Newfoundland
in 1992, local government and private agencies began
looking at the commercial possibilities of the urchin.
Preliminary research showed that establishing an urchin
industry here would not be easy. Harvesting sea urchins
is best done by trained divers, and people unemployed in
the fishery were not necessarily willing or able to under-
take this skilled work. Meanwhile, licensed scuba divers
found that government regulations restricted urchin li-
censes to fishermen. An abundance of urchins, more-
over, does not always mean an abundance of good
quality roe. In 1993 research remained to be done to find
out where the best harvest fields lay. Perhaps most aus-
picious at this time was news that California, previously
the major exporter of urchins to Japan, was seeing a
major decline in stocks due to over-harvesting, and that
the Maine urchin fishery faced similar difficulties. Cath-
erine Horan ed. (1993), Nigel Robbins (1993), Alejandro
Ulloa (interview, May 1993), DNE (1982), The Sea Ur-
chin Market (1990). KATHLEEN WINTER

EABORN, ROBERT LOWDER (1911-1993). Arch-
bishop of Newfoundland. Born Toronto, son of the
Rev. Richard Seaborn. Educated University of To-
ronto; Trinity College, Toronto; Oxford University.
Married Mary Gilchrist. Seaborn followed in his
father’s footsteps, being ordained a priest of the
Church of England in Toronto in 1935. After a period
of study in England he became assistant curate for St.
James’ Cathedral in Toronto in 1937. From 1941 to
1948 he was rector of St. Peter’s in Coburg, Ontario,
and during World War II he also served as a chaplain
with the Canadian Army. From 1949 to 1956 Seaborn
was the dean and rector of the Cathedral of Holy
Trinity, Quebec. From 1956 to 1958 he was the exam-
ining chaplain to the bishops of Yukon and New West-
minster and rector of St. Mary’s Kernsdale, New
Westminster.

In December of 1957 Seaborn was appointed assis-
tant Bishop of Newfoundland and moved with his
family to Corner Brook in May of 1958. He was ap-
pointed Bishop in 1965 and became Archbishop of
Newfoundland in 1975, serving until 1981. Under
Seaborn, Newfoundland was divided into three dio-
ceses (Western, Central and Eastern). After resigning
his see of Eastern Newfoundland, Seaborn was made
Bishop ordinary to the armed forces, and chancellor of
Trinity College in Toronto in 1986. He was awarded
honorary degrees by the University of Toronto (1948),
Bishop’s University, Quebec (1962) and Memorial
University of Newfoundland (1972). He died on Feb-
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ruary 15, 1993 at Coburg. DNLB (1990), Newfound-
land and Labrador Who's Who Centennial Edition
(1968). JAMES WADE

SEABRIGHT, GORDON WILBURN (1933-). Magis-

trate. Born St. John’s, son of George and Jessie (Ivany)
Seabright. Educated Botwood; Dalhousie University.
Married Madeline Curlew. In 1962, after working as
teacher and welfare officer, Seabright was appointed a
provincial court judge. During his time on the bench he
chaired several judicial inquiries, including a 1972-73
Royal Commission on social assistance payments. He ran
unsuccessfully as a Liberal in the district of Mount Pearl
in the 1989 provincial election. On his retirement from
the bench he was appointed chairman of the Workers
Compensation Appeal Tribunal. From 1989 to Septem-
ber, 1993 he was vice-president of Newfoundland Capi-
tal Corporation. Seabright has been deeply involved in
community organizations, including Lions International,
the United Church and its school boards, the Salvation
Army Red Shield Appeal, the Janeway Children’s Hos-
pital Foundation, the Corner Brook and Mount Pearl
winter carnivals, the Joseph R. Smallwood Heritage
Foundation, the Church Lads’ Brigade ‘‘Marching
Home’’ appeal and the 1988 provincial Summer Games.
Gordon Seabright (interview, June 1993), ET (Sept. 7,
1985; Apr. 1, 1989; June 15, 1989; July 27, 1989; Feb.
28, 1990; Oct. 2, 1992), Sunday Express (Feb. 15, 1987,
July 2, 1989). JEAN GRAHAM

SEACOAST ANGELICA. Seacoast angelica (Coelo-

pleurum lucidum) is a plant which inhabits rocky and
sandy shores from Labrador to Long Island sound. It
bears small white flowers in umbels, and its rough
stems have sticky patches. Young stems and leaf stalks
are juicy when peeled. Like European angelica and the
native purple-stemmed angelica gv, seacoast angelica
can be used like celery. Fernald writes that the plant
makes ‘‘a palatable and wholesome vegetable and on
the shores of the Gulf of St. Lawrence and of New-
foundland-Labrador might become an important
food.”” Fernald and Kinsey (1958), Ernest Rouleau
(1978). KATHLEEN WINTER

SEAL BAY (pop. 1911, 13). Seal Bay is a large bay of

central Notre Dame Bay, entered between Seal Bay
Head to the west and Leading Tickles gv to the east.
The Bay extends some 10 km south-southeast of Lead-
ing Tickles, and is 1-2 km wide for most of that length.
In 1994 the only community in Seal Bay was Glovers
Harbour gv, in the Bay’s northeastern extremity (also
known as Thimble Tickles). Two communities on the
east side of the Bay, Lockesporte and Winter House
Cove qqv, were resettled to Glovers Harbour in the
1960s, while there were also liveyers at several scat-
tered coves on the west side of the Bay. It is with these
few families that this article is mainly concerned.

As early as the 1850s there were people recorded in
baptismal records as having been born at Seal Bay
Head (most likely a cove just inside the Head, locally
known as Robertses Bight). These people would


























































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































